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Preface





I began this book after two decades researching, writing and teaching naval history. It was the last task that persuaded me to make the attempt. Students possess a remarkable ability to question received wisdom, and always expect better answers. I had long believed that Nelson’s was a story so often told as to defy re-interpretation, but such thoughts were soon changed by the experience of trying to teach from the extant literature. The questions that my students posed were not biographical: they wanted to know about his education, his approach to strategy, his relationship with other senior officers, and the longer view of his significance. Why was Trafalgar such a landmark? Without those questions this book would not have been written. It was in the Naval History classes of the past decade that much of this approach was developed.


With the bicentenary looming, promising a dramatic upsurge of interest in the greatest Admiral, there would be no better time to address these questions. The fortuitous combination of an idea for a book and a publisher with the courage to try another Nelson has left me eternally indebted to my editor at Faber, Julian Loose, whose merits will only be truly understood by those who have worked with him. His oversight of the project has been one of its principal pleasures. As the idea turned into a manuscript I was fortunate to find willing and able readers. Michael Budden spoke up for the opposition, Michael Tapper provided a view of Nelson from Burnham Thorpe and a long immersion in the subject, while Colin White shared the fruits of his immense labours in the field, labours which have done much to widen our view of the man, and to uncover more of his legacy. Because they asked such good questions their input was invaluable; by seeing the work through their eyes my judgements have been questioned, and refined.


Support for the project was equally forthcoming from the staffs of the various libraries, museums and archives in which it was researched: the British Library, the National Archives, the National Maritime Museum, the Nelson Museum at Monmouth, the libraries of the University of Michigan and Duke University, North Carolina. The library of King’s College, London, holds a wealth of important literature on the subject. The cultural impact of Nelson was equally significant, with major collections at Greenwich, Portsmouth, Monmouth and Great Yarmouth, along with the enduring presence of HMS Victory. Yet for me, and I suspect many others, the true meaning of Nelson only becomes clear in the crypt of St Paul’s. My debt to those scholars whose ideas and research have contributed to this book, from the eminent students of Nelson to art historians and strategists, is reflected, if not adequately repaid, in the footnotes and bibliography. What merit this book has is largely a reflection of the range and quality of work on which it is based.


A very different kind of research took me to sea on the replica of HMS Endeavour in 2001. I will be eternally grateful to the BBC for the opportunity to serve in an eighteenth-century square rigger and learn about time and motion, the camaraderie of the sea and the inner life of the ship. They were also kind enough to send me home. In 2003 another BBC project took me to a number of Nelson sites, widening my understanding of critical campaigns. The University of Copenhagen hosted a lecture on the posthumous reputation of the hero, and provided an opportunity to see the site of the battle and the passage of the Sound at Elsinore. Similarly the National Museums and Galleries on Merseyside hosted a lecture on the artistic response to Nelson’s death at the Walker Gallery, alongside two of the major canvases.


My family has given more help than I have a right to ask. Fortunately for Zohra and Tama-Sophie Calvi was a great holiday destination, but on so many occasions when the needs of an author have clashed with other demands they have understood. My parents have provided constant support, emphasising one thing that I am proud to share with my subject. I am a Norfolk man. While writing this book I incurred another debt, to the surgical team and all the staff at the Papworth Hospital in Cambridgeshire. Their skill and care transformed my father’s life.


My colleagues at King’s College provided the encouragement and consideration that make the academic community such a positive working environment. The support of the Tubney Charitable Trust has enabled the College to increase the provision of Naval History, uncovering yet more excellent students anxious to pursue the subject. That support has been greatly appreciated by the staff and students of the Laughton Naval History Unit. The Navy Records Society has provided another focus for Nelson studies, and the support of the Officers and Council has made my term as Secretary a pleasure. Disinterested scholarship and polite discourse are still alive in the twenty-first century.


By some curious chance I finished the manuscript of this book at the end of January 2004, the day I surpassed Nelson. Turning off the computer I was profoundly struck by the fact that I had just exceeded his lifespan, by half an hour.


Although many people have helped to limit my ignorance, and reduce the errors that appear in this book, for which they have my sincere thanks, they cannot share responsibility for what appears in print. That, very properly, rests on my head.




 





ANDREW LAMBERT


Dereham


Norfolk 
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Nelson aged 22 in Captain’s uniform, by J. F. Rigaud










INTRODUCTION


Nelson Today, Nelson in Context





There are events and individuals in history so far outside the ordinary that a mere record of facts, however detailed, cannot convey their meaning. We do not understand them literally, but at a heightened, spiritual level. Their magic attracts the attention of every generation: they continue to shape our views, mould our actions. Horatio Nelson was one such individual, and the purpose of this book is to ask what he means for us now – at the start of the twenty-first century, in a state increasingly integrated into a pan-European system and spared the horrors of major war for sixty years. Nelson is no longer the national hero celebrated by Churchill in 1940, or the scandalous figure so hotly debated by the Victorians, let alone the granite statue, twice life-size, that stands in Trafalgar Square. Yet all of these incarnations have played a part in the making of our Nelson, removing him from the events of his own life. In an age of cheap celebrity and instant fame it is important to understand the enduring centrality of Nelson. Whatever it means to be British in the twenty-first century, Nelson is part of that identity, as he has been since his first great triumph in 1798.


Nelson remains a national secular deity, the god of war for troubled times, the last resort against overwhelming odds, guardian against tyranny. In life Nelson met and defeated the greatest challenge to the independence and prosperity of his country, through his genius for war, moral and political courage, and willingness to make the ultimate sacrifice. He lived at a time when his country had need of heroes, and became the central figure in a new national identity. Around him coalesced the very concept of Britain, a state committed to God, King, parliament and liberty, relying on naval power to keep Bonaparte out and the trade routes open. Nelson died in the heroic mould, and was interred as an example to be emulated, at the core of a new national pantheon. His name became the talisman of victory, his ship a shrine.


He was placed on a pedestal at the centre of London to remind his countrymen and women from whence their ‘Wealth, Safety and Strength’1 came, and at what cost. Nelson arrived at a crucial moment in the history of human thought, bridging the gap between the Age of Reason, when man replaced God at the centre of the universe, and the Romantic Age, which challenged the rational, mechanical conception of events, the ‘Newtonian Universe’, with a search for meaning beyond the facts. The search for a higher sensibility led some back to God, or other forms of spirituality – found in art or the notion of a universal hero. The latter role fitted Nelson to perfection. Unlike the military heroes of the age, who destroyed their romantic credibility in government, Nelson’s greatness was entwined with the sea, an alien element, at once threatening, but distant; a theatre for the sublime. With his death and transfiguration Nelson assumed divine status: he was, and is, in Lord Byron’s words, ‘Britannia’s god of war’.


Consequently we all think we know about Nelson: born in a humble parsonage in Norfolk, blinded and mutilated in battle, destroyer of French fleets, conqueror of Copenhagen and lover of Lady Hamilton. Among the most famous men of all time, his image is universally recognised, as picture, statue, caricature or fancy dress, and he has been subjected to more biographies than every other admiral put together. Writers from Robert Southey and Byron onwards have constructed Nelsons to meet their very different political agendas, conservative and radical, and Nelson has been over-painted, well and badly, by every succeeding generation. Yet the modern Nelson remains a patchwork image, reflecting the concerns of different generations and ages: we still know very little of the man.


By separating the events of Nelson’s life from the way in which his myth has been transmitted by subsequent generations, we may hope to distinguish the human core from the heroic legend. To this end, the chapters of this book that deal with Nelson’s life are based on contemporary evidence, while the judgements of later commentators are dealt with in the context of their own era. By removing posthumous constructs from his life we can separate what we know about Nelson into matters of record and matters of interpretation. The real task of this book is to free Nelson of the distortions, errors and absurdities that have been heaped on his name – most notably, the critical judgement of his conduct at Naples in June and July 1799 – but it will also seek to make him more human, and more relevant. It will focus on the development of his professional skill and assess his debt to his mentors: the flowering of a unique talent is at the core of this book, and it does not diminish Nelson to understand why he was the finest naval commander of all.


Nelson’s private life will be dealt with where relevant, but without either the romantic hyperbole or sanctimonious moral judgements that have characterised those biographies for which this has been the main point of interest. Such approaches are unhistorical. Nelson’s private life was unconventional, but not unusual; it never threatened his employment, or stopped him answering the call of duty. It was also a small part of his life: his time ashore after the spring of 1793 comprised six months to recuperate from the loss of his arm, six weeks at the end of 1800, when his marriage broke up, seventeen months during the Peace of Amiens, and three weeks before Trafalgar. Once at sea his letters were almost always about his work, and his professional concerns. Consequently his private life should be seen as a minor part of the story: he lived for duty.


This is not to say that Nelson’s personality is unimportant to the concerns of this book. On the contrary, his leadership was so much more effective than that of fellow officers because he understood the human condition, and based his command on love, not authority. To work with Nelson was to love him: even the most hard-bitten veterans were unable to resist his courage, commitment and charisma. His colleagues were his friends, and he expected their love and loyalty, not mere service. He did his duty where lesser men just followed their orders. This was why he earned the love of a nation. These were fine qualities on their own – when combined with an unequalled mastery of war, strategy and politics they changed the history of the world.


Nelson’s abilities as a naval commander may justly be described in terms of genius, not merely greatness. To paraphrase a very wise passage by John Lukacs, great men make the best of the world, men of genius transform it to conform to their own ideas.2 It is a central contention of this book that Nelson transformed the art of war at sea, to render it effective in the titanic struggle of the French Revolutionary and Napoleonic wars. He used the newly forged instrument to block every extra-European initiative by the French, and he did so in the context of a total British response to the revolutionary era that generated a national identity and a far more powerful state.




*





In order to grasp such issues we need to understand the context in which Nelson emerged: we need to know far more about his intellectual and professional origins, his education, and the impact of the wider world on his career and conduct. In the two hundred years that have passed since Nelson’s death, the art of war at sea – the theatre of his genius – has been transformed out of all recognition. Before we consider his life, it is essential that we understand the nature of his profession, the opportunities and the limits that constrained his thinking. We must examine the age in which he lived, and the profession in which he functioned, with the same rigour that other studies have applied to his life.


Nelson’s career coincided with the age of revolution: he saw the world turned upside down, as first the American and then the French Revolutions transformed the relationship between the people and their rulers and shifted war from a limited affair that modified boundaries into a mechanism that could destroy states and transform continents.3 Monarchies were overthrown and republics set up while nation states emerged from the morass of dynastic ties and petty principalities. All of these things would influence Nelson, giving him a foundation for loyalty, a simple patriotism and the task of withstanding a nation seemingly rendered invincible by its transformation. Winning wars in the age of reason had been a matter of persuading the enemy that it was in their best interests to concede some limited loss. This system, which dated back to 1648, had been based on an agreement of mutual convenience among monarchs. It was destroyed by the French Revolution: after 1793 war was about destroying rival states, and imposing onesided treaties – conquer or be conquered!4 The war aims of Republican and Imperial France were inconsistent with a stable European state system. Territorial seizures, plunder and ideological pressures made the country so powerful that ultimately the rest of Europe was forced to destroy the French state, rebuilding it in a new form as the only guarantee for peace. There could be no lasting peace with a regime that did not accept the rules of the state system. This required a new level of war: the limited, formal engagements of the eighteenth century would no longer suffice – the age of total war had dawned.


Having raised the people to fight for their country – one million Frenchmen were mobilised in 1794 – successive French governments found themselves incapable of controlling the Frankenstein’s monster they had made. War would destroy its begetters, consume its origins and ultimately generate a military superman who could transform it back into a political instrument. France would be led by men who would only survive while they continued to succeed, while the French economy could only function by conquering and plundering other countries, and stationing much of their million-man army abroad. This ‘Jacobin’ system terrified all right-thinking, property-owning members of the British establishment. The French Revolutionary wars changed British society, for although the British did not revolutionise their society, they found ways to mobilise a far greater level of strength, and raise far more revenue to pay for the defence of their interests. The instruments that made this possible were patriotism and loyalty: fear of the French and their revolution made men British, and belligerent. The sense of vulnerability generated by the presence of French armies at Boulogne, and Antwerp, and Brest, made this a question of national survival: for the first time since the Spanish Armada the very idea of England was under threat. Britain mobilised a huge force of militia and volunteer groups that militarised society, but did not leave the country. This released the regular army itself, and the mercenary troops funded by the taxpayer, for service abroad.5


Nelson had the good fortune to serve in the most successful fighting service the world had ever seen, his years of glory illuminating its heroic age. Unlike other great powers, Britain relied on naval power for national security: as an island, her frontier was the shoreline, and her fortresses were floating castles. In truth, the Navy created the modern state, for the cost of maintaining the world’s most powerful fleet forced the state to modernise, to develop the tax-raising, bureaucratic and political structures that define the modern liberal state. Having been persuaded to pay for this powerful instrument of policy to defend the country from invasion, the commercial classes were quick to use it for their own advantage. By the beginning of the eighteenth century, Parliament was ordering the Royal Navy to devote a fixed proportion of its strength to escort merchant shipping. The City of London – traders, investors and insurers – kept the Navy strong, in peace as well as war. Their support had been crucial to Britain’s victory in the wars of Empire that culminated in 1763. The Royal Navy defeated the French and Spanish fleets, crippled their economies and seized control of India, North America and other key trading posts.


After the humiliation of 1763 France and Spain renewed their alliance, rebuilt their fleets, and waited for the chance to have their revenge. Nelson’s entry into the Navy was occasioned by the first such opportunity, the Falklands Crisis, and although the strength of the Royal Navy on this occasion deterred the allies, they only redoubled their efforts. France backed the American rebels in 1778 because her ministers saw an opportunity to weaken Britain, while Spain wanted to recover Gibraltar. Although they had only limited success in the American war, the French and Spanish continued their naval build-up after 1783, and by 1793 their combined strength of large fighting ships was significantly greater than Britain’s. The imperative need to reduce these massive forces lent a particular character to the naval campaigns of the Revolutionary war. A tactical success, taking a few prizes, was no longer adequate. The Nile becomes more significant when seen against the total naval balance of 1798, since it took the Royal Navy from outnumbered to dominant in one fell swoop.


Nelson’s genius lay in linking the different streams of naval skill that he had mastered with the political imperatives of the age – but like Napoleon, who had a very similar impact on land warfare, he would be fortunate in his opponents. The French Revolution had a devastating impact on the French navy, in marked contrast to her army. The professional skills of the seaman could not be replaced by patriotic zeal and numbers. In twenty-two years of war the French rarely won an action between forces of equal strength, and often needed very heavy odds to defeat inferior forces. Merchant ship captains and over-promoted midshipmen made poor admirals, even if they became good seamen.6 The other major fleet that Nelson fought, the Spanish, had many ships and some brave, capable leaders, but few sailors. For Spain Trafalgar would be the last hurrah of a once-great service, a glorious defeat. The Danes and Russians didn’t even risk going to sea – the quality gap was so great. Against all these opponents, Nelson clearly had an edge, and he used it to the full.
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Cross-section of a ship of the line in Nelson’s time








While war was transformed out of all recognition at the political and organisational level, the tools of the trade increased only in number. Muskets, cannon and ships of the line were unaltered, and Nelson’s career witnessed no significant technical change. His flagship at Trafalgar was over forty years old, and still a first-rate, front-line warship. In consequence he could build on 150 years of naval experience fighting with ships, squadrons and fleets powered by the wind, armed with cast-iron cannon, dependent on the seamanship, dexterity and commitment of the crew to keep them functioning. The skills he had learnt as a boy and perfected as a young man were still central to the business of fighting at sea on the day he died.


When Nelson went to sea, the wooden sailing warship was nearing the end of a prolonged period of evolution. The combination of an effective three-masted sailing rig, durable wooden ships and muzzle-loading cannon had been established as the basic fighting system 250 years before, in the reign of Henry VIII. However, operating large square-rigged sailing ships remained a difficult and demanding art, acquired over many years of practical experience. As a system of propulsion it left much to be desired. It was inherently dangerous, since extremes of weather could leave a ship out of control. Sudden changes in wind strength could cripple a ship in an instant, notably the Vanguard in 1798, by breaking the delicate topmasts. Furthermore ships could only make progress when the wind was blowing: dead calm meant no movement, and their ability to make progress against the wind was limited. This precarious power source required a deep grasp of local and seasonal conditions, largely derived from hard-won experience. The ability to read the weather and to anticipate changes was vital for a sea officer. Nelson kept a weather log for most of his sea-going career, and was still filling it in on the day he died. This was more than meteorological curiosity: it was the building block of his system.


The mechanics of adjusting the ship’s speed and course required the manual exertion of a significant part of the crew, including upwards of one hundred true seamen – men able to work up in the rigging, hauling in sail, mending rope and shifting masts and yards. The typical seaman was a young unattached man, between twenty and thirty, already experienced at sea. He would probably leave oceanic seafaring before reaching thirty to take up a shoreside job in the maritime industries, though a few stayed on to become masters, naval petty officers, or specialist ratings. Seamen were at the pinnacle of the working-class labour market, and vital to national security. Yet there were never enough of them in wartime, so much of the crew of a battleship would be composed of landsmen. Such men lacked the skill to work aloft, though they could haul on the ropes, run round the capstan and crew the guns; because they worked in the waist, the central section of the upper deck, they were often termed ‘waisters’.


The basic fighting instrument, the muzzle-loading cast-iron cannon, came in several sizes, and two basic forms. Long guns could fire solid iron balls over a mile, but the most effective fighting range was ‘point blank’, about 200 yards, where they required no elevation to hit an enemy ship. On the upper deck the weapons were carronades, short-barrelled lightweight guns of large bore, which compensated for their shorter range by firing heavy-calibre balls. The largest cannon fired a 6.2-inch diameter thirty-two-pound solid iron shot that could punch a hole straight through two feet of oak, and on exiting sent a cloud of huge, jagged splinters scything across the deck. The lightly built bow and stern of a wooden warship were terribly vulnerable, once Nelson had destroyed the old tactical order of linear attritional combat.


British guns, being better cast, rarely exploded; French weapons were less reliable, which discouraged their crew from trying to fire fast, for the faster the guns were fired the hotter they became, and the more likely they were to explode. On a close, confined gun deck the explosion of a heavy gun would reduce the gun crew to a bloody shambles, along with those of the pieces on either side, shatter the deck above and below, and probably cause an ammunition fire. This was far more damage than was normally done by hours of enemy fire, and demoralised the rest of the crew. Little wonder the confident and experienced British gunners fired faster. One round every ninety seconds was possible in the opening stages of a battle. After the first broadside had been fired this rate of fire made British ships far more powerful fighting units than foreign ships of the same nominal rate.


Although they were built to the same basic design, major British warships were divided into six rates. The first three were strong enough to fight in the line of battle, the others were cruisers for scouting, trade protection and other detached roles. First-rates like HMS Victory had three complete covered decks armed with cannon, with further guns on the open upper deck. The total armament of a hundred or more guns gave each ship a broadside weight of fire superior to any contemporary army. Second-rates, like the Temeraire, were similar, but smaller, and carried fewer than a hundred guns. These two rates formed the backbone of the major fleets – Nelson reckoned a three-decker equal to two two-deckers. Third-rate ships were two-decked ships of between sixty-four and eighty guns: Nelson fought three of his four major engagements in seventy-fours. These ships were cheaper to build, usually sailed better than three-deckers, and could be used for a wider range of strategic tasks. They were the most numerous type of battleship. Fourth-rates were either very small two-decked fifty-gun ships, like the Leander at the Nile, or big frigates like the USS Constitution. Neither was common, being too expensive to build and operate for a type unable to fight in the battle line. By contrast, the fifth-rate frigate armed with thirty to forty eighteen-pounder guns was a standard warship built in huge numbers, while the twenty-gun sixth-rate, the smallest ship commanded by a captain, was equally numerous. Lesser ships were not rated, and were commanded by officers below the rank of captain.


The ships of other navies were built along similar lines, although those of France and Spain were often larger for the number of guns mounted. France favoured very big two-decked ships of eighty guns, like the Bucentaure, over three-deckers, because they sailed better. Spain created a unique four-decked ship, the Santissima Trinidad, which Nelson engaged twice, and a large force of powerful 112-gun three-deckers, but these ships were rarely handled with sufficient skill to exploit their strength. British officers and men were invariably better trained and more experienced than those of Spain, and after 1793 those of France as well. Nelson’s tactics were founded on this unequal relationship between the Royal Navy and its rivals: he pushed his advantage to the limit in search of decision, speed and certainty.




*





Naval battles were rare, even for Nelson, but they provided the acid test of ships and men. The basic system of naval tactics was settled during Cromwell’s regime, a close ordered line of battle to maximise firepower and strength. This remained the basis of fleet tactics until Nelson’s day. Naval battles were usually lengthy affairs, taking many hours to resolve: at Trafalgar the fleets were in sight for six hours before they began to fight. Before 1793 fleets normally engaged in lines, broadside to broadside. The line of battle had been developed by the English as a defensive tactic to counter the more agile and aggressive Dutch fleets of the seventeenth century, relying on cohesion and firepower to smash the more lightly built Hollanders. It was used against the altogether less aggressive French and Spanish because it had become an article of faith, and the ultimate defence in the event of defeat. Failing to form a proper line was a serious offence, if the battle were lost. This regime bred admirals more frightened of losing than anxious to win. But the best admirals of the eighteenth century were quick to abandon the line, once the enemy had shown their weakness; Anson, Hawke and Rodney all used pursuit battle to destroy a fleeing enemy, and their approach culminated in that of Nelson, who began his plans with the annihilation of the enemy.


The tactics of war at sea in the age of sail have long fascinated armchair admirals, who have allowed the geometric precision of the printed page, and neat changes of course, to delude their senses.7 Naval tactics were never as elegant as the theoretical drawings suggest. Any seaman knows that to keep a fleet of ships sailing in company, in close order, is a great achievement; to make them change course without losing all cohesion and order is even more difficult, particularly when under fire and smothered with smoke. To fight a fleet action both sides had to bring their forces into line, and keep close together, rather than allowing the enemy to cut the fleet into sections, and concentrate against a detachment. If both fleets were willing to fight, and kept a good line, the combat would be settled by firepower. As damaged ships fell out of line the fleets would begin to dissolve into individual combats, and after one side had given up and fled, the winner could clear up the crippled ships that were left behind.


Once a battle began it was almost impossible to signal any changes to the plan, as smoke made it impossible for all ships to see the flagship. Therefore the best tactics were the simplest: the line was ideal because it would be set before the fighting started, and no one would break it without sanction. Nelson was the master of simplicity. At Trafalgar he had prepared his captains before the event, by discussion, and also by transmitting a ‘mission-analysis’ memorandum. This told them what he hoped to achieve, but also to exercise their own skill and judgement in fulfilling those objectives. Nelson’s predecessors – men such as Lord Hood and Earl St Vincent, from whom Nelson had learned much – also took their officers into their confidence, but because they faced more capable foes, they possessed less elevated ideas of the possible outcome. Nelson further refined the system such men had created, in pursuit of his goal of total annihilation of the enemy. His system removed the need to send any signals once the battle had started, and even when he received Home Popham’s new signal code,8 he saw that it was best used to give his men a morale-boosting motto, relying for victory on the old system, prior discussion, and above all his own example. Collingwood, who knew the man and his ideas better than anyone, testified that ‘he has the faculty of discovering advantages as they arise, and the good judgement to turn them to his use. An enemy that commits a false step in his view is ruined, and it comes on him with an impetuosity that allows him no time to recover.’9 After Trafalgar Collingwood reflected that ‘everything seemed, as if by enchantment, to prosper under his direction. But it was the effect of system, and nice combination, not of chance.’10


Once in combat, ships exchanged fire until one of them was unable to continue, either because her rigging was disabled, or her crew too demoralised by losses to continue.


The human face of such battles was terrible. Round shot smashed through the sides of the ships, scattering large, jagged fragments of timber, euphemistically referred to as splinters. These scythed down the gun crew, and men on the upper deck, inflicting a combination of cutting and crushing injuries that were hard to treat. Wounded men were taken below to the cockpit where, in the gloomy pallor of battle lanterns, the surgeon and his crew did their best. They could clean and stitch wounds, remove musket balls, amputate crushed or shattered limbs and comfort the dying. They knew nothing of antiseptic practice and anaesthetics, and had no treatment for shock. Even those who escaped obvious injury were not unscathed. The concussive detonation of so many guns left many men temporarily or permanently deafened; this, in combination with the horrors of the scene, may explain the unusually high number of insane veterans. These unfortunates had their own asylum (now the Imperial War Museum), where they provided post-war Londoners with a ‘spectacle’.


For those who survived, the regular routine of loading and firing the gun became the main event, one that required their full attention. Discipline and training superseded human responses: any sane man would run away, but these men were conditioned to stay and fight. As a result those who fought on the gun decks rarely had any notion of the wider battle, and afterwards their concerns were local. How many of their mess had survived, where were their mates? For most it was the close comradeship of shared danger that got them through. No one wanted to let down their mess, gun crew, ship or admiral. Such concerns overrode private fears, gave them a focus that depersonalised the danger, and sustained them in a truly hellish world of noise, smoke, death and mutilation.


For all the horror and human cost, battle was not the object of war, only the means to an end. Nelson’s real concern was the exploitation of sea power in the wider conflict with France. It was only by annihilating the enemy fleets that Britain could exploit the sea at the strategic level to sustain her own efforts, and crush those of France. Sea power would pressure French clients and puppets, ultimately prompting a pan-European uprising against the Bonapartist tyranny. Nelson was well aware of these issues, predicting the longer course of the war in June 1803. It would be national resistance in Portugal, Spain, Russia and parts of Italy and Germany that brought down Bonaparte, not the feeble policies and dynastic concerns of the old regimes.


The impact of sea power on the economic endurance of a large state like France was exceedingly slow – the grinding attrition of blockades contrasted starkly with Bonaparte’s rapid, decisive land campaigns – but also terribly certain. Between 1689 and 1815 Britain and France fought seven major wars, and France was bankrupt at the end of every single one. The difference after 1793 was that France plundered her neighbours, and kept on plundering them until the rest of Europe finally acted as one. The Royal Navy stopped France from enjoying her conquests, and denied her the opportunity to rebuild her economy. Everywhere there was room to float a ship, the British were to be found, harassing the enemy, and trading with anyone who could pay. The war between 1793 and 1815 was at root an economic struggle, and it was won by the stronger economy.


Britain had no desire to conquer territory on the European mainland. Her aims were restricted to removing the French from the Low Countries, especially the port city of Antwerp, and re-establishing a stable, peaceful European system, in which her role would be to balance the players, and press her commercial advantages. Five major coalitions and numerous alliances and subsidy treaties bear testimony to Britain’s role as the linchpin of resistance to French aggression. The question facing the British government and its advisers was how to use its strengths – naval power, economic endurance and a balance of power policy – to defeat France. In reality, the only method was to exhaust every French offensive option against Britain – invasion, economic warfare, alliances and global strikes – while slowly crushing her resources. This strategy caused problems with resource allocation, for Britain had a limited fund of ships, men, soldiers and transports, and every theatre called out for more. From 1793 the offensive was split between Northern Europe, where every effort proved inadequate and futile, and the West Indies, where the French islands were largely secured by 1797. Only after the Nile did the British Government focus on the Mediterranean, because all other options had been exhausted and Austria called out for a fleet. The results were spectacular, because sea power could block the French once they tried to leave the western European theatre. However, the ministers were never wholehearted about Austria, and rightly so: Vienna was playing its own game. For much of this period the biggest problem was the endless compromises caused by the political needs of alliance warfare: British aims were blocked by allied concerns, and pure strategy was deflected by political problems.


The security of merchant shipping was another issue that had constantly to be borne in mind. In a theatre like the Mediterranean with endless harbours for small privateers and pirates, it was essential to convoy the most valuable merchant ships, and coerce the Barbary corsairs to ensure they did not attack British ships, or those supplying the British. Convoys heading for Britain were commonly escorted by ships heading for a home dockyard to refit. Although often short-handed and sluggish, their presence deterred all but the most powerful enemy forces. Protection was also needed for the valuable British sugar islands in the West Indies, since the wealth they generated was one of the economic foundations of the war effort. So valuable were they that Nelson left his station and chased the enemy to the West Indies in 1805: he went to save the country, not just a few islands.


Perhaps Nelson’s greatest achievement was to render simple and direct everything that was, for lesser men, complex and imponderable. He removed uncertainty, doubt and fear from his subordinates. For Nelson’s Prussian contemporary, Carl von Clausewitz, genius in war was largely a natural gift: it enabled one man to triumph over rules, or simply set them aside. It was an intellectual attainment: judgement, insight, comprehension leading to swift and correct decision.11 Those who can do their duty in war are not uncommon: professionalism, teamwork, comradeship and shared danger can generate fighting men. Junior leaders, the petty officers and lieutenants who exercise tactical control, require more reflective attainments, to meet the uncertainties of battle with effective, predictable responses. This is the province of doctrine, the accepted methods of operating that have been the bedrock of fighting forces since the dawn of warfare. Yet genius requires a more open field of action. As soon as he was given an independent command, Nelson combined responsibility for his ship and crew with authority to act as he thought fit. From his first detached service, in Nicaragua in 1780, he demonstrated the confidence to act on his own judgement, accepting the awful responsibility of ordering men into battle and the possibility of criticism from higher authority.


Fleet command during Nelson’s era required the integration of administrative tasks with strategic-level management, tactical command and high-level diplomatic and inter-service cooperation. While many men were given such commands, only a handful of them rose to the task. Most fell back on precedent, caution and fear. Among the handful who rose to the challenge, none has equalled the subject of this book. Nelson served the political leadership of the day, upheld his country and constitution, placed his trust in God, and did his duty. He cared deeply for his men, as human beings. He sought peace through victory in war. In an age when nations needed heroes who were larger than life and twice as impressive, Britain’s hero was a slight, mutilatednaval officer. Nelson saved his country, and in the process became ‘Britannia’s god of war’.
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PART ONE



The Making of a Hero
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A Midshipman – sometimes claimed to be Nelson










CHAPTER I


The Student of War 1758–82





The testimonies of Nelson’s mistress, wife and elder brother, not to mention his own brief and embellished accounts, sought to create an image of the young hero as a paragon of manly virtues: honest, brave, loyal and self-effacing. Even his petty larceny – for such is the reality of his orchard-raiding as a schoolboy – was dignified by pious sentiments. The truth of Nelson’s all-too brief childhood was rather more prosaic.


Horatio Nelson was born at Burnham Thorpe in north Norfolk on 29 September 1758, the sixth of eleven children. His father, Reverend Edmund Nelson, was a Church of England cleric. Edmund’s family background was firmly middle-class; though intelligent and well educated, he lacked ambition, seeming happy with a quiet life in the Rectory at Burnham. The connections that would provide his numerous family with opportunities for advancement came from his wife’s family. Catherine Suckling was related to the powerful Walpole family, close neighbours of the Nelsons but far above them in wealth and social rank. She was the grand-neice of Sir Robert Walpole (later Lord Orford), the first British Prime Minister, who had built a dynastic power base in north Norfolk. It was the Walpole connection that secured Edmund the living at Burnham, and Horatio was named after Sir Robert’s son, his godfather.


Growing up in an isolated community, with few social equals, young Horace (as he was known in childhood) would have been well aware of his status. His family had servants and were on visiting terms with the minor Walpoles. But they did not visit Lord Orford’s residence; though they were close to wealth, status and privilege, the Nelsons were still on the outside. For an ambitious young man, the family’s connections would provide an opening, but individual effort in the service of the nation would be needed in order to convert this opportunity into social and economic promotion.


The vast skies and raw winds of north Norfolk have not changed since Nelson’s day, but then agriculture and fishing rather than tourism dominated the region, and the sea played an important part in local trade. No great events marked his childhood, which passed in a constant cycle of seasonal changes. The war with France that raged from 1756 to 1763 gave Britain global power, but Nelson was too young to have appreciated 1759, the year of victories when the Church bells rang for Quebec, Quiberon, Lagos and Minden. These events would enter his consciousness later, as examples and precedents.


The real influences on young Horace’s early years were closer to home: the sense of duty inculcated by his father’s role in the community, and the awareness of death sharpened by the tragic events in his own family. Five of his siblings died in childhood or as young adults, and his mother died when he was only nine. The latter event left an aching emotional void, manifested most obviously in his violent mood swings, as well as in his compulsion as an adult to secure the unthinking worship of those in authority and private ease in the arms of a powerful woman. Yet he always kept his duty and his personal life separate, never allowing private desires to hinder the execution of his public functions.


Perhaps he learnt this lesson from Edmund, who never remarried and selflessly devoted himself to bringing up his children. He was a considerate, calm father who neither crushed his children’s spirits nor expected too much of them: his amiable but chronically unambitious younger sons, Edmund and Suckling, were indulged with the same concern as Horace. Although Edmund was not a role model to Nelson, nor the spur that drove his ambition, the rector’s personal charm and expressive use of language were important elements in the make-up of the admiral, while his sermons and moral authority helped Nelson to find his own voice when he needed to justify his actions. A brief period in a boarding school provided a useful halfway house for the challenges of a naval career.


This career was influenced most strongly, however, by his Suckling uncles, Maurice and William. Maurice had made his name, and a worthwhile sum of money, after a successful battle in the West Indies on 21 October 1759. He lived in some style in South Norfolk, and as a childless widower he was an ideal patron for his sister’s children. William Suckling took the eldest Nelson boy, also named Maurice, into public service in the Excise Office, then moved him to the Navy Board when Captain Suckling became the professional head of naval administration. Horace, meanwhile, took the initiative, as he was to do throughout his life. Reading that Captain Suckling was to command one of the ships being mobilised for a possible war with Spain over the Falkland Islands, he asked his elder brother William to write to their father, then taking the cure at Bath, to ask if he could go to sea – though it is probable that Suckling had already mentioned the subject to Edmund.
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Captain Maurice Suckling, Nelson’s uncle








The opportunity that Suckling offered to Nelson was typical of eighteenth-century naval careers, which generally began through personal contact: the better the connection, the better the start a young officer could make. Successful senior officers could ensure that their protégés picked up their trade, and a wide circle of potential patrons. Careers began early, at twelve or thirteen, and required financial support. For the first four to six years the young man would not be a commissioned officer. He was a trainee, often rated as a midshipman, and would only be commissioned if he passed a professional examination, and possessed certificates for six years’ service. Horace’s path to a commission was smoothed by Suckling’s connections. Captain Suckling found the boy the right ships, the right officers and the right stations, as well as taking charge of his education and paying his allowance.




*





In March 1771 Nelson joined the sixty-four-gun line-of-battle ship HMS Raisonnable, then lying in the River Medway off Chatham dockyard.1 Within days the ship had moved down river to Sheerness, and Nelson witnessed his first flogging. When the armament was cancelled in May, Suckling shifted into the stationary guardship HMS Triumph. He felt that Nelson’s interests would be best served by going to sea, however, so he sent him in a merchant ship that was trading with the West Indies, commanded by one of his old petty officers. By serving as a crew member for a year, the thirteen-year-old acquired a head for heights and a wide range of practical seafaring skills, maintaining the rigging, heavy hauling, anchoring and unmooring, as well as gaining an insight into the common seaman’s far from favourable view of the Navy. In July 1772. Nelson rejoined Suckling on the Triumph, which had shifted back to Chatham while he was away. Already convinced by his uncle of the need to master practical seafaring arts, Nelson secured command of the only active vessel at the anchorage, the large boat that carried orders and officers from Chatham to London. Sailing in the shallow, tidal waters of the Thames and Medway, he developed the judgement necessary for inshore operations, a skill that would be vital to his later career.


Nor was this enough. The following year an expedition was in prospect. The Royal Society, patron of Captain Cook’s celebrated voyage to the South Seas, which returned home in 1771, now proposed a voyage to the North Pole. When two warships were selected, Nelson, desperate to join, circumvented an order that no boys be taken by persuading Captain Skeffington Lutwidge to rate him coxswain on HMS Carcass – named for the explosive shells she was built to fire, not the more obvious meaning. Doubtless Suckling played a key role, as the ship was fitted out at nearby Sheerness.2 Unfortunately for the young hero there was no glory to be had in the Arctic: they discovered nothing and the ships were nearly lost after becoming trapped in the ice.


Suckling clearly had no intention of keeping his nephew idle at home, since he next quickly secured him a midshipman’s berth on the frigate HMS Seahorse, destined for the Indian Ocean. The ship’s master, Surridge, was a talented navigator and teacher.3 Unfortunately Captain George Farmer lacked leadership skills and his ship was far from happy: two first lieutenants were court-martialled inside a year. The voyage was an eventful one for Nelson: he saw his first gun fired in anger, at a Mysorean cruiser, and he met midshipman Thomas Troubridge, another name for the future. Finally he was struck down with malaria and invalided home in early 1776. He arrived at Woolwich dockyard just days before his eighteenth birthday.


In 1802 Nelson told how this voyage found him in the depths of despair about his career prospects: he felt that by being invalided, he had failed, letting down his ship and all who served in her. But his spirits soon revived, with the cooler climates and the abatement of the malarial symptoms, and he decided to seek the patronage of his king and country. He resolved to be a hero, trusting in providence that it was his destiny.4


The subtext of this outburst in 1802 was clear. Nelson was telling his audience that he had made it to the top without human help. This was not true: Suckling remained the architect of his career when he returned to England. He was now Controller of the Navy and MP for Portsmouth, a man of enormous influence. Any captain would be happy to help his nephew: Nelson completed his sea service on board HMS Worcester, supported by letters from his uncle to her captain. After six months at sea as an acting lieutenant Nelson was examined for his commission. On 9 April 1777 a board of three captains, chaired by his uncle, met at the Navy Board on Tower Hill. Needless to say he passed, although he lacked the full six years’ sea service, and was a year too young. For the mature Nelson, however, Suckling’s influence was an embarrassing fact that needed to be explained away. Many years later either he or William Nelson told John McArthur that Suckling had concealed their relationship from his two colleagues.5 This is highly unlikely. There was no need to hold the examination in London other than to indulge Suckling, and Nelson’s contemporary report of the matter makes no mention of the subterfuge.6 He could expect Suckling to hold the Controller’s post for many years, certainly long enough for him to secure the next two steps to captain. His career had been made: the next few years would demonstrate whether he would become the officer his uncle had worked so hard to educate.




*





Nelson was commissioned a lieutenant on 19 April, and appointed to the thirty-two-gun frigate HMS Lowestoffe, whose captain was William Locker. The selection was no accident. Locker was an excellent seaman and a sympathetic commander: he had served under Lord Hawke, the greatest fighting admiral of the previous generation, and shown great courage in boarding an enemy vessel, which left him with a crippled leg. Suckling considered him the ideal officer to direct the next stage of Nelson’s education. Having mastered seamanship, the newly made lieutenant was anxious to learn about war. Characteristically, Nelson was soon on the closest possible terms with his captain. Long hours at sea and shared professionalism allowed the two officers to discuss naval tactics: the reflective Locker guided Nelson’s development as a commander and leader of men, as well as his tactical judgement. The two men became firm friends, despite the older man being twice Nelson’s age and his commanding officer. Locker became Nelson’s naval ‘father’, providing example, guidance and confessional. Other officers would earn Nelson’s esteem and affection, but none came close to Locker. The relationship remained close to the end of Locker’s life. It was at Locker’s request that Nelson sat for a portrait with John Francis Rigaud, RA.


Nelson and his new ship were soon off to the West Indies, escorting a convoy of merchant ships. Convoys were necessary because the American colonies were in open revolt, and their privateers were active. Furthermore there would be opportunities for prize-taking, and for glory. An active officer could make his name in war, and secure his place on the list of post captains. Once there he would become an admiral in the fullness of time, if he outlived those above him, and did not disgrace himself. Not that Nelson was going to let any opportunity pass to push himself forward, to show himself in a heroic light. His opportunity came as ‘captain’ of the Little Lucy, named for Locker’s daughter. Since the main targets were small colonial schooners bent on breaking the blockade it made sense to purse them in a similar vessel. In her Nelson took his first prizes, and demonstrated his initiative. The newly-made lieutenant took particular pride in a very smart piece of boat handling in severe weather.
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Captain William Locker








Plagued by ill health Locker had to invalid home, but he made sure that Nelson moved over to HMS Bristol, the flagship of Admiral Sir Peter Parker, in July 1778. At the same time, Suckling died suddenly, although the news took three months to reach Jamaica. The true significance of his uncle to his career prospects is painfully obvious from Nelson’s response. He knew that among Suckling’s last acts had been to write to Parker on his behalf.7 Already Parker’s first lieutenant, and thus marked for early promotion, he became master and commander of the brig HMS Badger in December. On 11 June 1779 he was appointed post captain, taking command of the small frigate HMS Hinchinbrooke when a death among the captains on station enabled Parker to promote his own son out of her into a better ship. Parker had the authority to fill such ‘death vacancies’ and with France now engaged in the war no one would question his action.


While waiting at Port Royal, Jamaica, for his new command, Nelson had time to extend his local contacts from the Admiral and Lady Parker, who treated him as a surrogate son, through Locker’s friend the planter Hercules Ross, to the Governor, Major-General John Dalling. Dalling had served at the capture of Quebec with the immortal Wolfe, and regaled his friends with stories of combined operations, matchless heroism and timely death that would inspire Nelson for the rest of his life.8 With the French heading for Jamaica Nelson was given command of the main battery protecting Port Royal Harbour. When the danger passed the ambitious Dalling developed a plan to cut Spanish central America in half, opening a two-front campaign by ascending the San Juan River into Lake Nicaragua, and moving on to the Pacific coast. Parker was unenthusiastic, but after registering his concerns he detached Nelson to escort the expedition.
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Striking a pose: Nelson volunteering to board a prize in a gale











With only sketchy maps, and little local knowledge, the troops soon ran into difficulties: even entering the river proved beyond their competence. Nelson offered his assistance without hesitation, bringing boats and seamen to get the troops moving. Although he had no authority to join the expedition, he could see that without his help the project was doomed. The river, in the dry season, proved to be shallow and rocky, enclosed by dank jungle harbouring clouds of mosquitoes. Unaware that these carried malaria, the men were more concerned by larger threats – snakes, crocodiles and jaguars. After ten days they overpowered a Spanish outpost, and moved up to Fort San Juan, a small hilltop work of masonry commanding the river. Nelson urged Colonel Polson to storm the place, despite the lack of ladders and artillery ammunition. Polson disagreed, and settled down to a regular siege. The logistics of bombarding a stone fort with tiny four-pounder cannon, far from the sea, were challenging. With the weather about to break time was of the essence, and only Nelson’s skill and drive had got the soldiers this far. But the course he proposed was highly risky, and Nelson himself contracted tropical sprue, which soon led to severe dysentery, after drinking from a stagnant pool. His life was probably saved when Parker ordered him back to command a larger frigate. The Hinchinbrooke passed to Cuthbert Collingwood, although most of her crew died on the lethal coast. The Fort finally fell, but the expedition petered out as the rains came, leaving a terrible legacy of illness and death among all those who took part.9


Arriving at Port Royal in a litter, Nelson was lauded by Dalling, and brought to the attention of the Secretary of State. He was too sick to take command of his new ship. Captain William Cornwallis rescued him from the charnel house that was the naval hospital by placing him in the care of released slave women, who treated him with local remedies and kept him isolated.10 Later, Lady Parker took him to the admiral’s house. His health shattered, the doctors were convinced that he needed a change of climate, and in September he went home on Cornwallis’s HMS Lion. The care of Cornwallis, and of Locker once he reached London, allowed him to join his hypochondriac father who was taking the waters at Bath. But his recovery took a long time, and his limbs were still partially paralysed months later.


By May 1781, however, he was well enough to apply for another ship, and in early August he was given the twenty-eight-gun frigate HMS Albemarle, recently converted from a French armed store-ship. Nelson’s biographers have accepted his claims that it was a merit appointment at face value.11 But Nelson had done nothing to command favourable notice; he was very young and there were many officers waiting for employment. In reality this was another example of patronage at work, and once again his uncle had provided the necessary interest. This time it was William Suckling, now Deputy Collector of Customs, who contacted Charles Jenkinson, Secretary at War. Suckling also had the ear of the Prime Minister, Lord North, and his nephew looked to these connections for employment in peacetime.12


Jenkinson wrote to the First Lord of the Admiralty, Lord Sandwich, in February 1781, asking for Nelson to be employed – because he was Maurice Suckling’s nephew, and he bore a good character.13 While Sandwich claimed to make such appointments by seniority,14 and did not interview Nelson for three months,15 Jenkinson’s support gave him the edge over his competitors. By the time Suckling followed up his initial approach to Jenkinson in April, he was told the job was already done.16 Had Maurice Suckling lived, Nelson might have been given a better ship.


In the meantime, he had returned to Rigaud’s studio to complete the portrait sittings. The fresh-faced youth of four years ago had gone, replaced by a confident post captain, with Fort San Juan in the background, representing his proudest achievement to date. The face had to be repainted; the subject was now thinner, and rather pale.17


Even so it is a remarkable image, portraying an assured master of his art, hardly past twenty, yet a veteran of war, competent to command the largest ships afloat.




*





Nelson took over his new ship in mid-August 1781 while she lay in dry dock at Woolwich. It would be another three months before she went to sea, in company with two other cruisers, to pick up a large convoy at Elsinore, where the Danish Crown secured the Sound Dues from ships passing the narrow waterway connecting the North Sea with the Baltic. (He would return with more serious intent twenty years later.) The convoy, some 260 ships, was highly important, carrying vital supplies of timber, rope, tar, turpentine and masts for the hard-pressed Navy. By late November the merchant ships were ready, and after a frustrating passage, with the Albemarle constantly chasing the laggards, the convoy reached Great Yarmouth. But a fortnight later, the Albemarle was run down and badly damaged by a large merchant ship.


Nelson was detained at Portsmouth for the next four months while she was repaired, before escorting a convoy to Quebec. Cruising in Boston Bay in mid-August 1782, he was pursued by four French battleships and a frigate, but avoided trouble by sailing into shoal water. By mid-September he was back in Quebec. The month-long stay there brought him better health, another lifelong friendship, and a love affair with a local beauty. Fortunately his new friend, the merchant and contractor Alexander Davison, persuaded him to follow his orders to escort troopships to New York, rather than chase a sixteen-year-old coquette.


Nelson’s heart was set on battle and glory: the pinnacle of his ambition was to command a ship of the line on the West Indies station. For on 12 April, while Nelson lay at Spithead, patching up his makeshift frigate, the British and French fleets had clashed in the Saintes passage. Admiral Rodney’s fleet smashed through the French line, taking six ships, including the flagship of their admiral the Comte de Grasse. In an afternoon the threat to Jamaica was removed and the reputation of the Royal Navy restored. Such glory earned two British admirals, Rodney and Hood, peerages and national adulation. For the young Captain Nelson, it fired his imagination and fuelled his dreams: commanding a line-of-battle ship was clearly the royal road to glory. When Nelson reached New York the hero of the hour, Sir Samuel, now Lord, Hood was there with his fleet, about to return south. Having been a friend of Maurice Suckling, Hood was predisposed to favour his nephew. According to Nelson’s version, Hood was soon convinced that the charming young captain was a man after his own heart, dedicated to glory rather than profit. In truth Hood’s rationale was more prosaic, and more obvious. Nelson was an experienced West Indian officer, from whom he obtained valuable information concerning the local navigation around Jamaica and Hispaniola.18


When Nelson went aboard Hood’s flagship he met His Royal Highness Prince William, later Duke of Clarence and King William IV, who was serving as a midshipman. When the slightly built, incongruously youthful captain, dressed in old-fashioned clothes, came on board, the Prince wondered who he could be.




My doubts were however, removed when Lord Hood introduced me to him. There was something irresistibly pleasing in his address and conversation; and an enthusiasm when speaking on professional subjects, that showed he was no common being.19





Little wonder that Hood persuaded Admiral Digby to release Nelson’s ship to accompany the fleet back to the West Indies. His confidence was repaid when the Albemarle picked up a French transport packed with masts, of which the fleet was desperately short. Overwhelmed by the flattery of a great man, and the admiration of a prince, Nelson was in rapture, telling his professional confidant Locker: ‘He treats me as if I was his son … nor is my situation with Prince William less flattering.’20 Such high expectations were bound to be disappointed: neither Hood nor the prince would live up to Nelson’s hopes.


Desperate to gather some more glory before the war ended, Nelson, learning that the French had captured the tiny British possession of Turk’s Island in the southern Bahamas, formed a small squadron from ships in the area and attacked. Despite a bombardment, the French were well prepared, and the landing on 7 March was beaten off. Fortunately Nelson was not ashore, and recognised the island was not worth the cost of recapture with peace imminent.


He was right. The Peace of Paris had been signed in January 1783 and he was recalled to England. On 25 June the Albemarle dropped anchor at Spithead, paying off nine days later. Nelson took great satisfaction from the impact of his leadership: the entire crew offered to follow him to another ship. With the war over, however, this was unlikely. King George had lost his American colonies, but he had kept the prize sugar islands, while France and Spain had once more been put in their proper place at sea.


Nelson’s own position, nonetheless, had been immeasurably enhanced by the war. Not only had he risen from lieutenant to captain, he had acquired some useful patrons and was a welcome guest when Hood took him to a royal levee. He had a powerful circle of friends and contacts both in the Navy and among the merchants, traders and West Indian planters he had met on his travels. Equally important was the loyalty he commanded among junior officers and men from his ship. Their faith in him, expressed so forcibly at a time when other ships’ companies were close to mutiny, showed that though Horatio Nelson might be ‘the meerest boy of a captain’, he was already an inspirational leader of men. His seamanship had been demonstrated, and his tactical judgement, guided by Locker, honed in combat. Aggressive, flexible and dynamic, his style was based on a broad comprehension of his profession. That he was still alive suggested his constitution  was robust – he had survived the worst the East and West Indies could offer.


Yet despite the apparent strength of Nelson’s position, he had no money. Although his well-placed uncle could help, his prospects were almost entirely dependent on further war service, and no one could guess when that opportunity would next arise. Several of his contemporaries would take their services to other navies – Russia, Sweden and Portugal all hired British captains – but Nelson’s emotional engagement hardly suited him to mercenary service. The American war had paved the way for Nelson’s greatness, but ultimately it proved to be only a preparatory stage. By 1782 Horatio Nelson had earned himself a footnote in history, but nothing more.
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Prince William Henry on board the Prince George  










CHAPTER II


Nelson, the Americas and a Wife 1783-92





Numerous examinations of the period of Nelson’s career between the American and the French revolutions have characterised it as a sequence of events in which he demonstrated the strands of greatness, browbeat his elders, obtained a wife and then wasted his time and talent ashore. Too little attention has been given to the motives that underlay Nelson’s actions, and the potentially fatal damage he inflicted on his career prospects. It is more accurate to see this period as one in which Nelson desperately – if unsuccessfully – sought opportunities to further his career and his family interest.


Once he had paid off the Albemarle, Nelson made a brief visit to Norfolk, but the society of his family held little interest for a much-travelled young captain with a career to make, who fancied himself already at the elbow of the great. He soon moved on to France, where he and the fellow officer who accompanied him intended to learn the language of the enemy and profit from the lower cost of living. He had probably been advised by Suckling, Locker, Hood or another mentor that this skill would help his career − after all, the most advanced tactical and theoretical works on naval subjects were published in France. But Nelson wasted the opportunity: his hostility to the French was evident in every letter, a pair of pretty French girls distracted him from his study, and he soon fell in love with Elizabeth Andrews, an English clergyman’s  daughter. Hoping, without reason, that she might consent to become his wife, he sent a mean-spirited, unpleasant letter to his uncle, demanding an allowance, its tone veering between self-pity and moral blackmail. But the cause was hopeless, and Nelson quickly found an excuse to leave. After only two months, he was back in London, socialising with Hood and visiting Lord Howe at the Admiralty, where he was offered a ship. It is uncertain whether this followed an approach by Suckling or a recommendation from Hood − but it was not a question of pure merit. The political scene in Britain was complicated. After a series of government changes and reconstructions between March 1782 and December 1783, William Pitt the Younger had become Prime Minister, but few expected his ministry to last. Hood, one of Pitt’s high-profile supporters and MP for Westminster, had real leverage, but it would not survive the return to government of his rival for the seat at Westminster, the Whig leader Charles James Fox.




*





Nelson’s new ship, HMS Boreas, was another twenty-eight-gun frigate. A purpose-built British ship, now ten years old, she had seen considerably more service than her new captain, and was already in commission.1 Nelson hoped to go to the East Indies, but soon found himself destined for the Leeward Islands station. Nor would this be his last disappointment. Brother William insisted on joining as the chaplain, then the pilot ran the ship aground in the Thames, and Admiral Hughes’ wife and daughter joined an already crowded ship, an inconvenience made doubly trying by the added cost and the ‘eternal clack’ of the woman. Nonetheless, Nelson retained his infectious good humour: he occupied his time on the voyage educating and encouraging an unusually numerous crop of midshipmen, ensuring that all went aloft and took their navigation seriously.


After calling at Madeira for wine, water and fresh food, Boreas arrived in Carlisle Bay, Barbados in June 1784. As the senior captain on the station, and ranking second in command, Nelson would have much to do, especially as Admiral Hughes preferred a quiet life ashore. His orders were to protect the northern group of islands − Montserrat, Nevis, Anguilla, St Christopher and the Virgin Islands − and secure British commerce, which included preventing illegal trade. Though the duties seemed rather mundane for a thrusting young captain trying to make his name, Nelson would court controversy throughout the commission.


Soon after her arrival Boreas was tied up at Antigua, the other squadron base, to wait out the hurricane season. Here he fell under the spell of Mary Moutray, the charming and accomplished wife of the Dockyard Commissioner. Flirting with an older woman seemed to be almost the only relaxation for the squadron’s captains − apart from alcohol, which the abstemious Nelson abhorred. Cruising through the Saintes passage, where so much glory had been won, Nelson must have been struck by the relaxed atmosphere of the station, especially in comparison with the discipline expected of Hood’s fleet only two years before. He applied a harsh regime of punishment for this commission,2 and he was quick to react to any oversight or inattention that appeared to slight his office, his dignity or the rights of the Crown. He was ill suited to peacetime service: his intense, analytical approach to his profession appeared out of place in the heavy, torpid atmosphere of the sugar islands, where life could be short and the temptation to pursue pleasure almost overwhelming.


Hughes commanded a powerful force − a fifty-gun ship, four frigates and two sloops − which reflected the proximity of the interlocking French islands of Martinique and Guadeloupe and the extensive commercial interests at stake. However, the French provided few problems, unlike the community the squadron was sent to protect. Only rarely did Nelson escape the routine of the station, surveying a Danish harbour, and very pointedly escorting a French warship that appeared to be intent on surveying the British islands. Whenever possible Nelson had his ship sail in company with others on the station, to conduct tactical exercises.3 He wanted to retain the link with war service − the reason he had joined the Navy. Moreover, the exercises kept the ship busy, and gave the men a focus for their loyalties. The Boreas was a clean and well-ordered ship with a healthy crew.


The key to Nelson’s tour of duty in the West Indies was the clash of economic and strategic interests that followed the separation of the American colonies from the British Empire. Until 1776 American shipping and commerce had been an important strategic and economic asset, playing a major role in the French wars and the growth of the British economy. Colonial status allowed the Americans to trade freely with the West Indian sugar islands, exchanging grain, timber, fish, tar, tobacco and other produce for sugar, rum, molasses and money. American independence brought an end to this thriving and mutually beneficial inter-colonial trade.


Post-war strategic considerations were complex: as Britain’s fourth or fifth largest export market, and the source of the largest single import, the sugar islands were a major state concern. Moreover, the maintenance of naval mastery required a healthy merchant marine. But now the Americans had placed themselves outside the system, their sailors and shipbuilders should not be allowed to profit at the expense of loyal subjects of the crown, nor should the sugar islands keep their connection with the rebels, in case they too left the empire. Initial attempts to retain the old connection in a new form were quickly replaced by more hostile measures. The Navigation Acts, long regarded as the foundation of naval power, would be enforced against the Americans. The Order in Council of 2 July 1783 stated that American goods were only to enter the West Indies in British or colonial ships, which had to be British-built, and British-manned − a popular measure in London; American ships could only trade direct with Britain.


The West Indian lobby, a powerful group of MPs linked to the planters and merchants, attacked the Order in Council when it came up for renewal at the end of 1783, but they were soundly defeated by the argument that to open the trade to the Americans would undermine the commercial basis of British naval power, and on 31 May 1784 the Order in Council was upheld. In 1786 a measure to encourage British shipping was introduced by William Suckling’s friend Charles Jenkinson, now Chairman of the Committee for Trade. British shipping recovered quickly after the end of the war, soon outstripping the pre-war levels. The rise of British commerce provided the maritime resources for the next war: many of the men whose jobs Nelson had been so anxious to secure in 1784−6 would serve in the Royal Navy after 1793. Both the policy and the application, in short, would be vindicated.4


Why did Nelson take this issue so seriously? This question is generally answered by emphasising his commitment to duty, regulation and honour. But these concepts, so necessary to the creation of a certain type of Nelson, hardly square with his sinecurist behaviour in continuing to pay his brother William for a further two years after he had left the ship.5 Nelson’s concern to advance his family was typical of the eighteenth century, and such family connections also provide the key to his remarkable conduct in the West Indies.


After Maurice Suckling’s death, his brother William, Commissioner in the Excise Office, became the most important family member for the advancement of the young Nelson’s naval career. William’s links with powerful and ambitious ministers would prove invaluable, while his house in Kentish Town was a frequent destination for the young officer when in town. Nelson may well have encountered the debates over the Navigation Acts and the Order in Council while staying with Suckling in late March 1784, already knowing he was destined for the Leeward Islands.6 The Excise Office raised revenue on a limited number of dutiable commodities, notably beer, cider, wine, malt, hops, salt, leather, soap, candles, wire, paper and silk. In the eighteenth century, excise – collected by the producers, and passed on unseen to the public – was the most attractive method of increasing state income. It provided around half of all revenue and was regularly raised to pay for wars. The nine Commissioners sitting in London supervised the office, acted as a court of appeal and attended the Lords of the Treasury once a week.7 His role in the Excise gave Suckling access to the key players in Government, including the Prime Minister and Chancellor of the Exchequer.8


However, it was one thing to pass a popular measure in London, and quite another to uphold it in the West Indies, where the local commercial classes had long been in the habit of trading with the Americans. The trade proved impossible to eliminate, although it was restricted. Whatever the ministers had intended, the majority of West Indian officials, both Governors, and Crown Lawyers, connived in attempts to evade the statutes. Their early resort to financial power, through expensive legal threats, reflected the basic issue at stake: American ships could bring in goods cheaper than alternative suppliers.


By January 1785 Nelson had realised that Hughes was overlooking a trade made illegal under the recent Order in Council, and subverting the Navigation Acts that were essential to national security. He refused to join Hughes in his connivance with the local authorities, basing his stand on the law and his own dignity. This was hardly going to please Hughes who, when Nelson produced the relevant Act and Orders, claimed he had not seen them. Desperate to square the circle created by his own acts and Nelson’s unwelcome zeal, Hughes ordered his officers to admit foreign ships if the local authorities gave them clearance. Nelson simply observed that this was illegal, and ran counter to the efforts being made back in Britain to suppress such trade. Not content with teaching the admiral his duty, Nelson copied the correspondence back to the Admiralty.9 Hughes could not assert his authority, because he was so obviously in the wrong. Instead he quietly left Nelson and the Collingwood brothers Cuthbert and Wilfred to enforce government policy, and incur the animosity of the islanders. Nelson sought government backing through an extensive correspondence. The resulting argument with Governor Shirley of Antigua was only resolved by a response from London.10


Knowing his approach would be popular in London, Nelson wrote to the Home Secretary, Lord Sydney, who had also received a full report from Governor Shirley on Collingwood’s initial actions. Meanwhile Nelson and Wilfred Collingwood had been stopping and searching suspicious trading vessels, many using false papers. The resulting seizures were entirely legal, but profoundly unpopular, provoking local merchants to issue a claim for damages. Just in case he had not caught the attention of the Ministers, Nelson then sent a statement of his services through Lord Howe to the King. Hughes merely reported proceedings and kept his head down. Nelson’s correspondence with older and more experienced officers had the tone of a self-righteous, hectoring sermon. Little wonder it reduced Hughes and Shirley to splenetic rage, a condition exacerbated by the realisation that the arrogant puppy was perfectly correct.


Nelson’s confidence was based on sound advice from London. He had been corresponding with Suckling on points of shared professional concern, debating the legal niceties of his position with him and seeking opinions from the Excise Board solicitor.11 He doubtless sent his uncle copies of the official submissions, in case the originals went astray. By September he knew his stand had been backed in London, gaining Treasury approval and legal support. He was reconciled with Hughes, who must have been relieved that Nelson made no allegations against him. While Nelson affected to be outraged by the arrival of an Admiralty letter commending Hughes for his non-existent zeal in suppressing the illegal trade, his comments should not be taken too seriously.12 They were, like much of his more vitriolic output, only meant for his friends. He knew that admirals always took the credit for the good work of their subordinates, along with a healthy share of the prize money and any other rewards on offer. However, he took the trouble to set out his case, including the evidence against Hughes, in a memorandum which was seen by a few key figures. Nelson had learnt a valuable lesson, and would not allow his merits to pass unnoticed in future. The seeds of his concern to manage his own publicity, so obvious after 1793, were sown in the Leeward Islands.


Nelson encountered another example of Hughes’ lax approach to naval regulations when he arrived at Antigua for repairs in early February 1785. He found the Latona flying a Commodore’s pendant: as her captain was Nelson’s junior, he ordered that it be struck, but Hughes had directed Commissioner Moutray to act in a military capacity in his absence. This was clearly in breach of regulations, since Moutray’s post was purely civil. Why Hughes chose to act in this way is unclear, but Nelson was correct. It did not help that the drunken and ailing Captain Sandys, for whom Nelson had already expressed his contempt, was at the centre of the affair.13 But the Admiralty, while agreeing with him, considered he should have resolved the matter with Hughes. Taken together, the illegal trade and pendant issues showed Nelson to be a well-informed, confident young captain, who was prepared to take a stand on principle, with the moral courage and personal authority to make his case. Feeble, second-rate officers placed over him soon discovered that his loyalty was only given to those of superior merit, not superior rank.




*





When Moutray and his charming wife returned to England Nelson needed another female focus for his emotional dependence. Like many young officers, he found local society often resembled a marriage market, with eligible young women paraded before potential suitors. Nelson might be a master of his profession, but he had yet to show any talent in affairs of the heart, where his rather too obvious desperation and failure to empathise had already led him to make a fool of himself on at least two occasions. This time he was more reserved, suppressing his greatest asset, the charming conversation that appealed to all ages and both sexes.


One of his few friends and supporters among the planters was John Herbert, President of Nevis, who stood surety for him in a legal case arising from the American ship seizures. In the President’s imposing mansion, Nelson met Frances Nisbet, Herbert’s niece, a widow of about his own age with a five-year-old son. Unlike the girls he had hitherto taken to heart, Fanny needed Nelson at least as much as he needed her. It was a relationship of the desperate: a single mother and a penniless, almost friendless naval officer. Fanny was looking for a way out of her current situation, and Herbert encouraged the relationship, flattering Nelson and promising him money that never appeared. However, Herbert was determined to keep Fanny, who was a useful part of his household, until it was time for him to move to England in 1787.
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Frances Nelson, née Nisbet








If Nelson’s letters are to be trusted, there was little passion in the relationship.14 As he explained: ‘Duty is the great business of a sea officer. All private considerations must give way to it, however painful it is.’15 At least he was honest. It would be duty that took him away from her, and duty that attracted him to other women. For Nelson duty was the drug, the spur, the key –  it dominated his conscious life. He closed his life with the words: ‘Thank God I have done my duty.’


It was on young Josiah Nisbet that the Nelson charm worked its effect most immediately, and through the boy Nelson secured a place in his mother’s heart. It is revealing that Nelson saw much of Mary Moutray in Fanny, both in her looks and her manners. Such sentiments tell us what he was looking for in this relationship, and explain why the marriage lacked sparkle. Needing a maternal relationship he borrowed Josiah’s mother. Only when he needed a mother to nurse him, after Tenerife, did he truly appreciate Fanny. She served many functions for Nelson, but there is no indication that she quickened his pulse, or occupied his thoughts when they were apart. His letters remained matter-of-fact, little different from those he sent to friends and relatives. Fanny, meanwhile, had no desire to live in society and never exerted herself to move in Nelson’s world. She sought quiet and calm. The fact that she clung to old Edmund, an aged hypochondriac parson, has often been cited as evidence of her innate goodness, but it is also an indication of her wishes.


As Herbert would not provide adequately for his niece in his own lifetime, Nelson was left to beg Suckling for an allowance. Once again he found it awkward and embarrassing, and was upset when Suckling did not respond with enthusiasm. As ever with Nelson, astonishing ambition and prudent foresight collided. He could have managed without the money, even as a married man.


However, all that was in the future. Before the marriage could be concluded, two years after the initial meeting, Nelson would face further challenges. The greatest of these concerned a young prince, and exposed the flaw in his hitherto stiff and correct application of service protocol. The relaxed regime of Admiral Hughes came to an end in August 1786, leaving Nelson as senior officer on the station. In December the frigate Pegasus arrived, commanded by a newly made twenty-one-year-old captain, His Royal Highness Prince William Henry. The Prince’s rapid promotion from midshipman to captain without any service in the intervening grades, allied to his limited capacity for reflection, did not promise well. William needed to spend time, as Nelson had, serving under a first-rate sea-officer like Locker. As First Lord of the Admiralty Lord Howe knew this, urging the King not to promote him out of turn. When the King insisted, Howe appointed one of Hood’s protégés, the thirty-four-year-old Lieutenant Isaac Schomberg, as first lieutenant of his ship. Nelson knew and respected Schomberg, but William was only too well aware that the older man had been sent to ensure that he did not lose his ship, or his life, through inexperience.


William was on something of a royal tour of the North American station: part public-relations exercise, part opportunity to further his education. On the surface, he was doing well: he had brought his ship to the pitch of perfection, striking all who saw her as neat, tidy and smoothly efficient. But he did not command the enthusiasm of his officers, or his rigidly controlled crew. William was in the habit of publicly dressing down the vastly more experienced Schomberg in the presence of the other officers and high-ranking visitors. A more expeienced officer would have realised that the regulations on which William insisted needed to be tempered by common sense. An explosion was inevitable, and in the closely confined wooden world of an eighteenth-century frigate the tension at the top would affect the morale of the crew. Someone needed to take William aside and advise him to cool down.


Unfortunately Nelson had no intention of taking this vital role. Instead he saw a golden career opportunity: ‘It is in my interest to be well with the Prince.’16 If William was to be a professional sea-officer, then he would need someone at his right hand to supply his deficiencies. The self-confident Nelson’s charm and professional knowledge evidently made a powerful impact on the impressionable young prince, who derived ‘vast pleasure from his instructive conversations about our Service in general, and concerning the illicit commerce carried on in these islands’.17


William’s petty tyranny, which seems to have been exacerbated by Nelson, led Schomberg to demand a court-martial. Nelson responded by placing him under arrest for a frivolous complaint − a feeble, non-committal gesture. He must have known that taking action against Schomberg would risk his own relationship with Hood, on whose advice the lieutenant had been appointed. Nelson had backed the wrong horse. William, as Nelson might have realised had his veneration for royalty and vaulting ambition not clouded his judgement, could hardly rise to the top of the national arm. When Howe rebuked William, and by extension Nelson, for their petty and preposterous conduct, the two men responded in typical fashion: Nelson wished he could undo his actions, and asked William to forgive Schomberg; the bull-headed William was having none of that, and proceeded to pick a quarrel with Hood as well.18 Unlike his friend, William had family and position to fall back on, and could sacrifice his career to his pride. By transferring his hopes to William, Nelson had lost the confidence of Hood and Howe.19 He would have the opportunity to reflect on the real balance of power in the service over the next five years.


Nelson’s connection with William did have one positive result, when the Prince used his authority and rank to force the procrastinating Herbert to hasten his marriage to Frances. The ceremony took place on ii March 1787 at Montpelier, Herbert’s palatial residence, and William insisted on taking the starring role by giving away the bride.


William also found Nelson a useful occupation to fill his last months on station, when he passed on a complaint about frauds in the local purchasing of government stores: a cartel of merchants was colluding to keep up prices and spread the rewards. This offered Nelson another opportunity to gain credit with Maurice Suckling’s successor at the Navy Board, Captain Charles Middleton: if his response was successful it could mark him out as a suitable man for a dockyard or Board appointment. Whatever his mistakes over the Prince, Nelson was still William Suckling’s nephew, in tune with the economic reform agenda of the age, and he would show the same determination and moral courage in assailing corruption and illegality as he had against the Spanish works on the San Juan river. But the affair brought Nelson no glory, and in any case his future did not lie in shipbuilding or administration. However, it did secure him an important friendship with George Rose, Secretary to the Treasury: a key confidant of Pitt and a name for the future.20




*





Nelson left the West Indies in June 1787, low in spirits, though this was probably more the result of boredom than real ill-health: he needed to be busy, active and at the forefront of events. A month later he anchored at Spithead, remained there for six weeks and then cruised round to the Nore. While the Dutch crisis remained unresolved the Admiralty was unwilling to pay off any ships, but Nelson found the wait demoralising. He was entitled to a spell ashore, he was newly married and if there was not going to be a war he might as well go home.


The Boreas was ventually paid off in late November 1787 and after various official and personal journeys the Nelsons arrived at Burnham in mid-1788. Initially they planned a brief visit before travelling to France to complete the linguistic studies interrupted four years earlier. Instead they ended up settling at the Rectory, where old Edmund found his naval son a source of great comfort as young Edmund slowly died. Fanny, however, as a child of the tropics, did not flourish in the biting cold winds of the open coast, often keeping to her bed for days on end.


Nelson’s complaints about being ignored should not be taken too seriously. Six years ashore for a young captain was hardly unusual in peacetime, especially after a four-year commission. In any case, these years, as well as allowing Nelson to indulge in a little ‘Capability’ Brown-style gardening and resume his place in local society, gave him the leisure to reflect on his career, and develop his professional understanding. He read the periodicals and the limited literature available; he studied charts, wrote and took in the wider political scene. His analysis of the link between local conditions and political unrest demonstrated a mastery of the labour market, the political claims of the radicals, and the most effective methods of securing the loyalty of lower orders. The people, while naturally loyal, required higher wages to remove the attraction of the radicals.21 It was an analysis that the Navy would have to adopt five years later.


Nelson’s evident mastery of the Navigation Acts and other legislation related to his profession stands in marked contrast to the failure of his efforts to master French. His acute intelligence was practical, not abstract. Nelson was not a deep or original thinker – such traits were ill-suited to the dynamic aggressive methods of junior leaders in 18 th century naval warfare. His great strength was a quick and clear grasp of issues, the ability to acquire, assimilate and assess large amounts of information, which then formed the basis of his decisions. Nelson’s detailed analysis also shows that he remained determined to play his part in current political events, rather than being the isolated, lonely figure implied by his correspondence


The one thing Nelson did not analyse with sufficient honesty was the value of his connection with the Prince. Unlike Nelson, William had been given another ship, more as a sop to the King, who wanted to keep him out of the way, than as a sign of approval of his conduct in the Schomberg affair. Yet Howe and Hood had already settled their views on William’s career prospects. He was a liability, and could not be given fleet command either in peace or war.22 William was created Duke of Clarence in 1789 and given a ship of the line in the Nootka Sound armament of 1790, unlike Nelson, but his quarrel with the King and increasing espousal of reform and the Whig cause in the House of Lords did nothing to endear him to Pitt’s ministry. With Lord Chatham, Pitt’s elder brother, at the Admiralty, and Hood as his principal professional adviser, William’s chances of employment were not good. Unlike his equally outspoken and wrong-headed brothers, William had the misfortune to serve in a professional force, where rank could not replace ability. After war broke out William was quickly booted upstairs to flag rank, where his lack of experience precluded any active service. Even so he remained optimistic, considering himself an ideal First Lord of the Admiralty and promising to reward Nelson once in high office.23 While making himself a thorough nuisance, William also ruined any hopes Nelson had of rising on his coat-tails.


Though Nelson had gone to the West Indies with the backing of the two most important men in the service, his privileged access to Howe and relationship with Hood did not translate into close personal contact. Hood, the closer of the two, did not correspond with him while in the West Indies, and made his views on the Prince William affair clear by distancing himself from Nelson and bringing Schomberg into his own ship. Nelson banked on William becoming admiral, so that he could command one of the ships in his line of battle. His letters to the Prince were both prescient and shameless in their flattery: ‘It is only by commanding a Fleet which will establish your fame, make you the darling of the Nation, and hand down your Name with honour and glory to posterity.’ The same letter even requested a household appointment for Fanny.24


In 1790 a fleet was mobilised for a possible war with Spain. Despite William’s intervention with Chatham Nelson was ignored.25 It was obvious to everyone but Nelson that the Prince had no influence. Nor did Hood do anything for Nelson in 1790, or in 1791 when he commanded the mobilisation aimed at Russia. Even in 1793 he remained distant. Nelson had abandoned Hood’s school for William’s entourage, exchanging duty and honour for the coat-tails of a loose-living, hard-drinking lightweight. Had William gone on to better things − and Nelson beleived he could have been a useful flag officer – his move would have seemed astute. In the event, though, it was another royal who rescued Nelson from the unemployed list: his name was Louis, and he had recently lost his head.
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The burning of the French fleet at Toulon










CHAPTER III


The Chance for Glory 1793





In late 1792, as the European situation deteriorated and war with France came closer, the Navy began to mobilise. Once again, Nelson reminded the Board that he was anxious to serve. This time he did not rely on Hood, whom he had not spoken to since 1790. Within the month, however, he had seen Lord Chatham at the Admiralty, and had been promised a sixty-four as soon as it was ready, or a seventy-four if he was prepared to wait. Characteristically – and fortunately, as it would turn out – Nelson went for the more immediate prospect, although he was anxious to commission the ship at Chatham, rather than Portsmouth or Plymouth. He got his way, and his exuberance at the prospect was clear from his report of the interview to Fanny: duty called, and in his mind he was already off to sea. By late January he knew the name of his ship: the Agamemnon, then refitting at Chatham.1 The symbolism of a ship named for the king of men might have been lost on the crew, who referred to her as ‘Eggs and bacon’, but it would be appropriate: over the next three years, the Agamemnon would make Nelson a prince among captains.


To man his new ship, Nelson called back many old Albemarle and Boreas officers and petty officers, recruited in Norfolk, and asked Locker, then commanding at the Nore, to find a clerk and extra men. There was a personal and parochial strain to his selections: his new-entry midshipmen included Josiah Nisbet, a Suckling cousin, and William Hoste, son of another Norfolk parson. He would make them all captains, although only Hoste became a naval hero.


As he rushed back and forth between Burnham, London and Chatham, Nelson was still Hood’s man. Only slowly would he come to rely on his own judgement, and he never dreamt of refusing Hood’s orders as he had those of Hughes a decade earlier. While Hood held command Nelson deferred to him, although unlike most of his fellow captains he never ceased learning from the master. His period under Hood’s orders would be the penultimate stage of his education in leadership and command.


War was finally declared on n February 1793. Initially, the British government had not been unduly concerned by the outbreak of war between Austria and revolutionary France in 1792. The Prime Minister, Pitt, had convinced himself and his colleagues that the internal condition of France was a force for peace, leaving the Ministry profoundly unprepared later in the year when the French extended their war into the Austrian Netherlands (modern Belgium), an area of fundamental concern to Britain.


The French occupation of Antwerp undermined the basis of British security: a hostile fleet at Antwerp was ideally placed to attempt an invasion, far better than at any French base. Preventing the city from falling into the hands of a major rival had been the basic tenet of British policy since the Tudor period. The threat from the north-east would be a major issue throughout the next twenty-two years of war.


In 1793 Britain lacked the troops to take on France in the Low Countries, her old ally Holland was no longer a major power, and the military resources of the three eastern monarchies – Austria, Prussia and Russia – were largely occupied by the partition of Poland. In addition all three were close to bankruptcy. The minor powers and petty principalities of Europe were no better placed. The only assets that Britain could use to secure her strategic interests were her fleet, and her credit.2 Pitt, committed as he was to fiscal stability, was convinced the French would be defeated by the collapse of their economy. To this end, Britain applied her major military effort to the French West Indian islands, the motor of their economy and source of key maritime resources, ships and seamen. The islands would also be useful assets for any peace negotiations, and end the threat to the immensely valuable West India shipping from locally based warships or privateers.


To address the European dimension of the French problem, Pitt needed to build coalitions based on mutual interest, money and sea power. Mediterranean strategy was driven by the need to secure a friendly base within the Straits. Gibraltar was unable to handle a large fleet, and without a major base, like Minorca, Naples or Malta, the fleet would be hard-pressed to protect British merchant ships, let alone exert any influence over France. As Hood’s fleet was assembling, British diplomacy was building a useful coalition. Piedmont-Sardinia signed a treaty in April, promising to keep fifty thousand troops in the field, in return for an annual subvention of £200,000 and the presence of a major fleet. The King of Sardinia was anxious to recover Nice and Savoy, which the French had seized in 1792. In July, Naples promised to provide six thousand troops and a naval squadron at no expense, although the British would have to transport the soldiers.3 Further treaties with Spain and Portugal completed a Mediterranean system that encircled France, while providing bases and troops. Keeping the French fleet inside the Straits would greatly simplify the defence of oceanic trade, while providing distant cover for the West Indian campaign.4 With a fleet in place, and allied armies to hand, France could be invaded on all fronts, her resources stretched along her frontier from Dunkirk to the Pyrenees.


As Commander in Chief in the Mediterranean, Hood was taking on the most complex task that fell to a British officer in wartime. While his primary task, like that of Howe off Brest, was to watch the French fleet and give battle if it came out, he was also responsible for theatre strategy, alliance-building and coalition warfare. Naval dominance, by battle or blockade, would enable Britain to use the Mediterranean for trade, diplomacy and strategy. He was to use any opportunity of ‘impressing upon the States bordering on the Mediterranean an Idea of the strength and Power of Great Britain’. This would require the fleet to be spread across the theatre.


By staying in port the French would force Hood to keep his battlefleet concentrated, while trying to protect trade from Gibraltar to the Dardanelles, cooperate with allies and clients and exert diplomatic leverage over the Barbary states. In conducting these multifarious tasks he would have to rely on his own judgement, forming his plans on the basis of local information supplied by British diplomatic representatives, and any intelligence that could be gleaned from passing ships, local newspapers, and chance occasions. Furthermore he would have to operate without a major base, or dry-dock. It was a task that called for a range of skills above and beyond fleet command – it needed a self-sufficient, confident personality, with the political courage to take responsibility for major initiatives without being able to consult London. Only Hood and Nelson truly rose to the challenge of commanding the Mediterranean theatre.




*





In March the Agamemnon went down the Medway to Sheerness: Hood hinted that Nelson should prepare for a cruise and then join the fleet at Gibraltar. The combination of getting to sea and a letter from Hood put Nelson in fine spirits; he told Fanny that ‘I was never in better health’.5 While the ship completed for sea Nelson’s personal possessions arrived on coasters from Wells. A short stretch down to the Nore in mid-April demonstrated a key feature of his command: ‘we appear to sail very fast’.6 Desperate to join Hood, and fearful that his orders might change, he found every delay for bad weather a terrible trial. The vigour with which he drove two French frigates and a corvette into La Hougue, while cruising off the Normandy coast, spoke volumes about his anxiety to prove himself.


Nelson was anxious to get on with the war, and found another Channel cruise with Admiral Hotham’s division between Guernsey and Land’s End doubly annoying as neutral ships reported that the French Atlantic ports were full of captured British merchant ships.7 Not content to do as he was told, Nelson needed to know the purpose of his orders, spending much mental effort trying to understand their rationale. This was an important lesson in command: as a result of his frustration, he himself would always take junior commanders into his confidence, ensuring they understood the broader mission so they could exercise their judgement rather than relying on orders.


The purpose of the cruise only became clear to Nelson later on: because the Channel fleet would take some time to mobilise, detachments preparing for the Mediterranean were being used to cover the western approaches before proceeding to their proper station. On 25 May Hood brought his division out to join Hotham, and took command of the fleet. The master quickly took his charges in hand, conducting tactical exercises as they waited off the Scilly Isles to cover the incoming Mediterranean convoy against a French fleet sortie. An outbound East India convoy also passed through this dangerous choke point. The next day the fleet headed for Gibraltar, and Nelson called on Hood on board his flagship, HMS Victory. He was relieved to find Hood very civil, and told Fanny ‘I dare say we shall be good friends again.’ This personal warmth was vital, since without Hood’s approval Nelson would have cut a very sorry figure. Had he joined the Channel fleet, under the austere, uncommunicative Howe, his ardour for the service may have cooled.


As the fleet passed Cape Trafalgar heading for the Mediterranean, Hood detached ships to water at the Spanish naval base of Cadiz. For the first time in a century the British were welcome – inspecting the fleet, dining on the flagship and taking in the obligatory bullfight. A week in Spain left Nelson with mixed emotions: admiration for the large, well-built Spanish three-deckers, and confidence that as Spain lacked the sailors to man them they would be worth very little in battle. The failure of the Cartagena division to form a line of battle a week later only confirmed his estimate. Nor was he pleased by the savage spectacle of the bullring. For a man who would spend the critical hours of his life amidst the bloody shambles of the quarterdeck in close-quarters battle, he was remarkably sensitive about the maltreatment of animals.
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